
 
 
 

TOWN COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting 

St. Charles Parish Hall 
August 15, 2013 

6:00 P.M. 
 
 
At 6:00 p.m. Mayor Dora Sullivan, having established a quorum, called to order the Regular Meeting 
of the Town Council.  In addition to Mayor Sullivan, present were Vice Mayor Bannon, Councilmen 
Bennett, Godwin, Sullivan and Wendell, and Councilwoman Natali.  Also in attendance were Town 
Manager Heather Arcos, Assistant Town Manager Bob Panek, Town Planner Rob Testerman and 
Town Clerk Libby Hume as well as the Department Heads and approximately 15 members of the 
public. 
 
Vice Mayor Bannon gave the invocation which was followed by the recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
 
Deborah Bender, 300 Fulcher Street 
Ms. Bender addressed Council regarding various issues.  (Please see attached.) 
 
Larry Veber, 507 Tazewell Avenue 
Mr. Veber addressed Council regarding the former Cape Charles School and his previous 
discussions with Councilman Wendell regarding preserving the building. 
 
There were no additional public comments to be heard nor any written comments submitted prior 
to the meeting. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – APPROVAL OF AGENDA FORMAT: 
 
It was noted that Item 6A – Cape Charles Multi-Use Trail Project Update was now an action item. 
 
Motion made by Councilman Bennett, seconded by Councilwoman Natali to approve the 
agenda format as amended.  The motion was unanimously approved. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA – APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
The Town Council reviewed the minutes of the July 18, 2013 Regular Meeting, the July 23, 2013 
Cape Charles Business Association Meeting, and the August 1, 2013 Special Meeting. 
 
Councilman Sullivan noted a typographical error in the July 18, 2013 Regular Meeting minutes and 
Councilwoman Natali noted that she had discussed a sentence on page 4 under the Harbor Master’s 
report with Town Clerk Libby Hume and the sentence would be reworded for clarification. 
 
Councilman Wendell stated that page 10 of the July 18, 2013 Regular Meeting minutes regarding his 
Council comments on the old school did not reference his responses to Councilwoman Natali.  
Several of the Council members stated that they did not recall Councilman Wendell’s comments 
during that discussion and Councilwoman Natali asked Libby Hume to listen to the recording from 
the July 18, 2013 Regular Meeting regarding this discussion and make any necessary changes. 

1 



 
Councilwoman Natali referred to the July 23, 2013 Cape Charles Business Association Meeting 
minutes provided by Councilman Bennett stating that she was also a member of the Cape Charles 
Business Association and asked that the minutes be amended to reflect her dual capacity at that 
meeting.  Mayor Sullivan added that she was also a member of the Cape Charles Business 
Association. 
 
Motion made by Vice Mayor Bannon, seconded by Councilman Bennett, to approve the 
minutes from the July 18, 2013 Regular Meeting and July 23, 2013 Cape Charles Business 
Association Meeting as amended and the August 1, 2013 Special Meeting as presented.  The 
motion was approved by unanimous consent. 
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS: 
 
A. Treasurer’s Report: 
 Treasurer Kim Coates reviewed the Treasurer’s report dated July 31, 2013 which showed $95 

in the Bank of America account, $220,050 in the Shore Bank account, $68,473 in the Local 
Government Investment Pool (LGIP) account for the New Library and $440,418 in the Local 
Government Investment & Restricted Funds with the Total Cash on Hand at $729,036.  Kim 
Coates added that the money in the LGIP account for the New Library would be moved to Shore 
Bank later this month.  Kim Coates went on to review the Tax Collection Comparison for Fiscal 
Years (FY) 2013 and 2014 which showed that $15,493 more was collected in FY 2014 as of July 
31st with increases noted for transient occupancy tax.  The revenues vs. expenditures and the 
capital improvement projects were also reviewed.  Kim Coates added that Libby Luettinger had 
started as the new accounting clerk which would help get the department caught up.  Ms. 
Luettinger would be working on collections.  The Utility Clerk had moved downstairs to be 
more accessible to the customers for payments. 

 
Heather Arcos stated that she and Kim Coates would be meeting with Davenport & Company 
and VML/VaCo regarding refinancing options and should have some information to report in 
September. 

 
 Motion made by Councilman Sullivan, seconded by Councilman Bennett, to accept the 

Treasurer’s Report as submitted.  The motion was unanimously approved. 
 
B. Planning Commission and Boards:  

Town Planner Rob Testerman reported the following: i) A Joint Meeting had been scheduled 
with the Cape Charles and Northampton County Planning Commissions for Monday, August 
19th, at 7:00 p.m. in the Social Services building in Eastville.  The Commissions would be 
discussing the overlay district in the U.S. Route 13 and State Route 184 corridor; and ii) A joint 
permit application had been received regarding shoreline hardening and offshore revetments 
by Aqua.  A Wetlands Board Public Hearing and Meeting had been scheduled for September 4th 
at 4:00 p.m. 
 
Heather Arcos stated that the Historic District Review Board would be meeting on August 20th 
to continue their review of the application regarding the former school and modifications to 
their by-laws.  Emails of all Commission and Board meeting packets were also being sent to the 
Town Council for review. 
 
Councilman Wendell asked several questions regarding Rob Testerman’s plans, with the 
Planning Commission, regarding the upcoming meeting with the Northampton County Planning 
Commission.  Rob Testerman stated that the Commission would be asking for a special zoning 
district where the Town would receive information for review regarding plans and applications 
in the overlay district.  The upcoming meeting was to reopen dialogue between the Cape 

2 



Charles and County Planning Commissions and staff.  The combined group could also discuss 
the types of businesses wanted in the district. 
 
Heather Arcos stated that the Town’s draft language regarding the corridor overlay was 
forwarded to the County Planning Commission in 2010 and the Town received their input.  The 
Town needed to work with the County to implement the language in the Town and County 
Comprehensive Plans and Zoning Ordinances.  The Annexation Agreement called for the County 
to work with the Town through a planning process for the area within one mile from the traffic 
light to protect the businesses in Town.  Councilwoman Natali added that the County currently 
oversaw the zoning in the area and had agreed to discuss the Route 184 corridor overlay with 
the Town which was hoping to continue an ongoing dialogue to work together regarding 
planning for this area. 
 
Councilman Wendell asked whether these discussions would be held prior to a vote on the PSA 
and added that commercial development on the highway would compete with the Town’s 
businesses.  Councilman Wendell continued to state that it was reckless and asked about the 
legality of a special zoning district.  It was an unwise choice to recoup the cost of the 
wastewater treatment plant.  Mayor Sullivan stated that at any time, someone could go to the 
County regarding opening a business along the highway and currently the Town did not have a 
voice.  The overlay plan would give the Town a voice in the matter.  The joint meeting with the 
Planning Commissions was not about the PSA, it was about the overlay district.  Sewer and 
water was not needed to build a hotel, etc. 
 
Rob Testerman stated that the County was currently in the process of redoing their zoning 
ordinance and it would be better for the Town to meet with them during this process vs. 
waiting until they had completed the zoning ordinance review. 
 

C. Other Departmental Reports: 
 

Police Department: 
Mayor Sullivan asked Chief Brown to clarify the information regarding the incident with the 
train.  Chief Brown stated that the incident happened around 9:00 p.m. when a golf cart got 
caught on the railroad tracks by the hump.  It would not move and a locomotive car almost hit it.  
No one was injured.  Bay Coast Railroad had installed signs and no golf carts were permitted to 
use the area.  The other crossing by the Shanty was still open. 
 
Public Utilities: 
Councilman Bennett asked about the DEQ inspections on the wastewater treatment plant.  Dave 
Fauber stated that the Town would resume alternating water plant filter backwashes once the 
summer season was over.  This had been done in the past and allowed the iron to be washed 
out of the filters to settle in the backwash tank, thus eliminating the issue.  The Town could then 
have a preliminary engineering report prepared to look at different approaches.  If the Town 
did not have success with the alternating backwashes, the backwash tank would need to be 
expanded from the current 7,500 – 8,000 gallon capacity. 
 
Councilman Bennett questioned the timeline for the Engineering for Keck Wells which showed 
that the advertisement for bids would be March-April 2014, contractor selection in April-May 
2014 with contract award in June 2014, and asked it be moved to FY 2015 since no money was 
budgeted to connect the wells this year and the Town was not under any DEQ mandate to 
connect the wells.  Dave Fauber stated that the construction would not begin until FY 2015. 
 
Harbor: 
Harbor Master Smitty Dize reported the following: i) He attended a Waterman’s Memorial 
Board meeting and construction could begin in November with completion in Spring 2014; and 
ii) He stated that Clam Slam 2013 was very successful and thanked Marie Brady for doing such a 

3 



great job on the parade.  Everyone involved in the event did a great job.  This year, he had about 
$16K in sponsorships and over 2,500 people attended the two-day event.  
 
Code Enforcement: 
Councilman Wendell asked for an update on the abandoned house on Plum Street.  Code Official 
Jeb Brady stated that about 60 days ago he issued a notice of violation and had spoken to the 
property owner who was not willing to put any money into the house.  Jeb Brady went on to 
state that he had also given the owner the names and numbers for several real estate 
professionals who could help her sell the property.  Four bids were obtained to board up the 
windows and paint the plywood and a contractor was ready to begin the project. 
 
Public Works: 
Councilman Wendell commented that the Public Works crew was doing a good job trimming 
the crape myrtle trees along Route 184 which looked good but added that there were some 
crape myrtle trees on Monroe Avenue that also needed trimming and asked that the Public 
Works crew work on those as well. 
 
Heather Arcos reported the following: i) On August 14th, a meeting was held regarding an 
update to the proposed Harbor Access Road with representatives from Northampton County, 
VDOT, the Army Corps of Engineers, Delegates Lynwood Lewis and Barry Knight, Director of 
Rail and Transportation Thelma Drake, Pat Cunningham of Harbor Development among others.  
She attended the meeting along with Vice Mayor Bannon, Councilman Bennett, Smitty Dize and 
Rob Testerman.  The Harbor Access Road was the County’s #1 priority for their 6-year plan.  
The road was scheduled for completion in 2020 and was fully funded.  The County was trying to 
fast-track the road to be built sooner.  Representatives from South Port Investors and Bayshore 
Concrete Products gave presentations regarding their upcoming projects.  A representative 
from Orbital stated that they had looked at the Cape Charles Harbor when considering routes to 
Wallops Island, but had decided on a port in Delaware due to the difficulty in getting the rockets 
from the Harbor to Route 13 for transport to Wallops Island.  Councilman Bennett noted that 
the State of Delaware received $4M to move the rocket to Wallops.  Heather Arcos stated that 
she gave a brief update regarding the Town’s plans for the three remaining breakwaters.  The 
completion of the Harbor Access Road would promote economic development in the Harbor 
area, the Town and County.  VDOT saw the potential of having the road which would give the 
Town the ability of shipping by water, railroad and road.  Councilwoman Natali asked whether 
Orbital could be the second user at the Harbor which was needed in order to deepen the harbor.  
Councilman Bennett stated that the barges bringing in the rockets would not require the 
additional depth proposed by the harbor deepening project.  Heather Arcos added that she had 
spoken with South Port Investors and Bayshore Concrete regarding giving presentations to the 
Town Council at the September meeting; ii) Jeff Holland from the Chesapeake Bay Bridge 
Tunnel sent an invitation for the Town Council to tour the bridge and get an update on the tolls, 
etc.  If Council was interested in touring the facility, staff would organize the tour; iii) South Port 
pulled a permit for Parcel 12 and construction of the storage building should start soon.  They 
were planning a ground breaking ceremony on September 18th and would be inviting the Mayor 
and Council; iv) She would be out of town in training in September so would miss the 
September Council meeting; and v) On August 14th, she attended a ceremony at Chatham 
Vineyards where Governor McDonnell recognized Chatham Vineyards as a leader in Virginia’s 
wine industry and the wine industry’s impact on Virginia tourism and the economy.   
 
There were no further questions regarding any of the other monthly Departmental Reports. 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
A. Cape Charles Multi-Use Trail Project Update: 

Assistant Town Manager Bob Panek updated the Council on the Cape Charles Multi-Use Trail 
Project which was being constructed in phases with 80% grant funding under the 
Transportation Enhancement Act for the 21st Century.  To date, the Town had been awarded 

4 



$2.3M and about $1M was used for the Master Plan and for design, engineering and 
construction of Phase 1 in Central Park.  Approximately $1,389K remained available for Phase 2 
– North Peach Street and Washington Avenue.  Land Studio, the Town’s consulting firm for this 
project, submitted the 60% design documentation to VDOT and had addressed all VDOT review 
comments.  None of the major design elements had been rejected by VDOT.  The anticipated 
schedule was for 100% design/bid documents to be completed in September, VDOT approval in 
November, bidding in December, contract award in January 2013 and start of construction in 
February 2014.  Land Studio provided an updated cost estimate of $1.4M which was $300K less 
than the initial estimate when the grant application was submitted.  However, the Town 
recently became aware of substantial beach erosion at the northern terminus of the concrete 
boardwalk where Phase 2 would connect and it would be beneficial to extend the existing rock 
revetment over the storm drain outfall to protect this area.  Bob Panek distributed photographs 
of this area to show Council amount of erosion in the area.  Land Studio would begin discussions 
regarding this issue with VDOT.  Land Studio recommended subsurface location of 26 utility 
components (water lines, sewer laterals and storm drains) along Peach Street and Washington 
Avenue which would be completed by a sub-consultant at an estimated cost of $23K.  Bob Panek 
requested Council authorization for a change order to the Land Studio contract for the utility 
test holes. 
 
Councilman Bennett asked about the process and locations for the utility test holes.  Bob Panek 
stated that the contractor, JMT, would take as-builts, dig holes then restore the area to its 
existing condition. 
 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Bannon, seconded by Councilman Godwin, and unanimously 
approved to authorize a change order to the Land Studio contract for the utility test holes. 

 
B. Public Service Authority (PSA) & Regional Wastewater System Update: 

Bob Panek stated that he had given a presentation on the PSA and the proposed regional 
wastewater system to the Cape Charles Business Association (CCBA) the end of July.  A letter 
had been received from the Northampton County Board of Supervisors (BOS) regarding the 
following: i) Authorized County staff to schedule a public hearing for the proposed 
Service/Special Tax District; ii) Requested the PSA to conduct a financial analysis of the Cape 
Charles sewer system and draft an agreement to purchase service from Cape Charles.  The 
Town was waiting for the letter from the PSA Executive Director asking the Town staff to 
conduct the financial analysis.  The information would be provided to Council prior to being 
forwarded to the PSA; and iii) Assigned the County contract for engineering services with Hurt 
& Proffitt to the PSA.  $130K was included in this year’s Northampton County budget of which 
$95K was for engineering services. 
 
Heather Arcos, Kim Coates and Dave Fauber would prepare the financial analysis to determine 
the portion of wastewater treatment costs to be allocated to the proposed service district.  A 
Council work session had been scheduled for September 5 to review the information. 
 
Councilman Wendell asked the number of property owners surveyed by the PSA.  Bob Panek 
responded that approximately 70 property owners were surveyed regarding their interest in 
the regional wastewater system.  Councilman Wendell stated that he had heard that 4 were 
interested, 4 responded “maybe” and 9 were not interested and continued by asking to see the 
details of the survey of the property owners in the proposed service area.  Bob Panek asked 
Councilman Wendell to stop in the office to review the survey details. 
 
Councilman Wendell asked how the Town could ensure that the citizens of the Town would not 
be paying additional costs for the two-mile pipeline to the highway.  Bob Panek stated that 
there would be no cost to the Town’s citizens for the new system and added that the Town 
would charge fees to the PSA.  Councilman Wendell added that if a mistake was made regarding 
the calculation of fees, the residents would bear the costs.  Bob Panek responded that the 

5 



Town’s citizens were already bearing the cost of the system.  Mayor Sullivan stated that the 
Town and County needed to work together regarding the project. 
 
Mayor Sullivan stated that in the briefing given to the CCBA, Bob Panek had included a summary 
of the capacity of the wastewater treatment plant which had a design capacity of 250K gallons 
per day (GPD) and asked whether that was the same capacity of the old wastewater treatment 
plant.  Bob Panek responded that it was the same capacity as the old plant.  Mayor Sullivan went 
on to state that the Town was originally planning to build a new plant with a 500K GDP capacity 
but with the growth coming to a virtual halt in 2008 due to the economy, Council decided to 
build the smaller plant in early 2009 and by reducing the plant’s capacity, the Town reduced the 
cost of the new plant, gave up the increase to the State Waste Load Allocation, and Bay Creek’s 
obligation to pay any amount under the Annexation Agreement was postponed until the plant’s 
capacity needed to be expanded.  Bob Panek responded as follows: i) The plant needed to be 
completed by January 2011 in order for the Town to maintain its higher waste load allocation.  
With the downsizing of the plant, plans had to be redone causing a delay in construction.  Due to 
the delay, the Town lost its higher allocation; ii) The Annexation Agreement provided that Bay 
Creek would share the cost in the expansion of the wastewater treatment facility.  With the 
downsizing of the plant from 500K GPD to 250K GPD, the plant would not be expanded 
therefore Bay Creek did not have an obligation to share any of the cost of the new plant.  
Councilman Wendell asked whose opinion it was that Bay Creek did not have to pay.  Bob Panek 
stated that a legal review was done and the Annexation Agreement was quite clear in the 
matter. 
 
Councilman Wendell asked about the role of the PSA and its mission statement.  Bob Panek 
responded that he would provide a copy of the PSA charter to Councilman Wendell to review at 
his convenience. 
 

C. NEA Our Town Project Update: 
Bob Panek reported the following:  i) Arts Enter Cape Charles was awarded a $50K “Our Town” 
grant from the National Endowment for the Arts (NEA) for a two-year arts-focused creative 
place-making project that contributed toward the livability of the community.  The original 
budget of $175K was based on receiving a $75K grant.  The $25K grant shortfall was resolved 
by a total of $15K in additional grants from the Virginia Tourism Corporation and the Virginia 
Commission for the Arts and $11,450 of cash matches.  Arts Enter Cape Charles and the Cape 
Charles B&B Association spearheaded this effort; ii) $26,450 was allocated for a tourism 
website and marketing campaign.  The website, www.capecharlesbythebay.com was 
operational and the print and social media marketing campaign was in place.  Very good 
reviews had been received; iii) A $22K contract amendment was executed with Land Studio for 
the “Arts Walk” planning efforts.  A steering committee of residents, business owners and CCBA 
met with consultants to exchange ideas about linking existing performance spaces and creating 
additional spaces such as the Strawberry Street Plaza.  The consultants were formulating 
proposals which would be presented to the steering committee and the public at large for 
additional feedback.  The final product would be presented to Council and, if approved, 
reflected as a modification to the Cape Charles Master Trail Plan; iv) “A Magical Weekend in 
Cape Charles” was held last December, in conjunction with the Grand Illumination, and the 
“Pirates & Wenches Festival” was held in conjunction with the Tall Ships at Cape Charles.  A 
very ambitious two-week Harbor for the Arts Festival began August 3 in conjunction with Clam 
Slam and encompassed a wide range of visual and performing arts.  The majority of events were 
held in public spaces at no charge; v) The Cape Charles Fall Festival would be held in October in 
conjunction with the Birding and Wildlife Festival; and vi) The difficulty would be to find the 
resources to continue. 
 
Councilwoman Natali asked about the effectiveness of the Harbor for the Arts Festival.  Bob 
Panek stated that statistics would be compiled as part of the grant and added that during the 
Pirates & Wenches Festival/Tall Ships at Cape Charles Mason Avenue was much more crowded 

6 

http://www.capecharlesbythebay.com/


than last year, but did not know how the numbers translated to sales for the businesses.  Mayor 
Sullivan stated that it would be easy to ask the business owners after each event.  Heather Arcos 
added that she had received lots of good feedback from the businesses regarding their sales 
numbers being up from last year.  Bob Panek stated that the two events held in Central Park 
were very well attended and there were about 200 people in attendance for the Air Force Jazz 
Band.  Councilman Wendell commented that it was a very positive direction for Cape Charles 
and could be a way to attract new users to the sewer system. 
 

D. VDOT Traffic Study Results: 
Heather Arcos stated that on October 12, 2012, Council passed a resolution requesting VDOT 
perform traffic studies at the intersection of Randolph Avenue and Fig Street prior to Memorial 
Day and after Memorial Day to compare and measure traffic during off-peak and peak times of 
the year.  VDOT conducted the traffic studies in December 2012 and July 2013.  VDOT’s 
determination was that a multi-way stop was not recommended for this intersection but did 
recommend a greater police presence in the area especially during heavy tourism times to 
enforce traffic laws.  If appropriate funding could be obtained, VDOT suggested that this 
intersection would be an ideal location to reconstruct as a roundabout which would serve to 
calm traffic as well as provide a gateway into the Town.   
 
Councilman Wendell read excerpts from the VDOT Traffic Study Report and stated that the 
simple solution was to add a stop sign vs. creating a roundabout to calm the traffic.  Councilman 
Wendell added that this was the epitome of big government which was blind to simple common 
sense solutions. 
 
Vice Mayor Bannon commented that the Council asked for a traffic study which VDOT 
performed and reported upon. 
 
Councilman Bennett stated his agreement with Councilman Wendell, not about the need for the 
additional stop sign, but about the report from VDOT which was the same recommendation as 
the last traffic study.  Councilman Bennett added that he also did not agree with VDOT’s 
decision regarding the Town’s repeated requests to reduce the speed limit on Route 642 to 25 
MPH. 
 
Mayor Sullivan added that unfortunately, the Town’s hands were tied regarding these matters. 
 

E. Former Library Building Use: 
Heather Arcos stated that $40K was allocated in the FY 2013-2014 budget for construction of a 
handicap access ramp on the exterior of the former library building and to update the bathroom 
for ADA compliance so the building could be utilized for meeting space for the Town Council, 
Planning Commission and other boards.  The Citizens’ Needs Advisory Committee 
recommended use of the building for a Town meeting place, a community center, an indoor 
recreational center, a venue for club and community organizations to meet, etc.  Heather Arcos 
stated that she wanted to reconfirm this use with the Town Council before moving forward with 
the budgeted renovations.  Councilman Bennett asked about the plans for the construction of 
the handicap ramp and bathroom renovations.  Dave Fauber stated that he would be developing 
the plans and the project(s) would be put out for bids.  Councilman Bennett suggested the plans 
be developed by someone licensed in the field and asked to see the plans for the ramp and 
bathroom renovations before construction began on the projects. 
 
Councilwoman Natali stated that the Friends of the Cape Charles Memorial Library had 
requested the building be used as a Library Annex to be used by the Library and to store books 
which were being sold, etc.  Councilman Bennett stated his opposition to the building being 
called the Library Annex adding that the Town had a population of 1K people and a brand new 
library.  The Town did not need two libraries. 
 

7 



Heather Arcos recommended that the building be named so it would not have to be referred to 
as the “old library.”  There was some discussion regarding possible names for the building such 
as William Scott Center, Cassatt Community Center, Cape Charles Community Center, Cape 
Charles Town Hall, and Library Annex.  Heather Arcos stated that discussions would continue 
regarding naming the building.  Mayor Sullivan suggested that the naming of the building could 
be its own meeting and asked if Council was in agreement with the proposed uses. 
 
Councilman Godwin asked for clarification of the proposed uses.  Heather Arcos stated that 
some of the proposed uses were for meeting and recreational space for Town use and space for 
other entities to use for meetings and activities.  Councilman Godwin asked whether the space 
would be handled similar to the park or other public location.  Councilwoman Natali stated that 
currently, organizations and individuals wanting to use the park completed a form which was 
available online and submitted it to the Town.  Similar procedures would be followed for use of 
this building.  Councilman Godwin stated his agreement with the procedure.  Councilman 
Bennett added that the uses as discussed were fine but suggested that any other uses, if 
suggested later, also be considered. 
 
Councilman Wendell asked that the Public Works crew work to clean up the property so the 
building did not look like it was abandoned and added that there was grass growing on the 
sidewalk. 
 

Motion made by Councilman Wendell, seconded by Councilman Bennett, that Council 
endorse the suggested uses, but  not be limited to them, as the Town further explores the 
possibilities for utilization of the former Cape Charles Memorial Library for public use.  The 
motion was unanimously approved. 

 
NEW BUSINESS: 
A. Planning Commission Priorities:  

Rob Testerman informed Council that the Planning Commission was currently reviewing Section 4.1 
of the Cape Charles Zoning Ordinance regarding the Sign Ordinance and would recommend proposed 
amendments to the Ordinance for Council consideration.  The Commission began their process to 
develop a work plan for the coming months but land use applications and directives initiated by 
Council would remain the Commission’s top priority.  As the Commission worked to develop their 
work plan, Council may direct the Commission to prioritize the following work: i) The 
Comprehensive Plan review and/or update was required to be completed by localities every five 
years; and ii) Working with the Northampton County Planning Commission on the development of a 
Town Entrance Corridor Overlay District to protect business interests and the view sheds along the 
entrance and down Route 184.  Former Town Planner Tom Bonadeo attended public input sessions in 
2012 as part of the County Comprehensive Plan update.  A joint meeting was scheduled for August 
19, 2013 at 4:00 p.m. in Eastville for the Cape Charles and Northampton County Planning 
Commissions to reopen discussions regarding the Corridor Overlay District.  Rob Testerman 
continued to state that in order to ensure the Comprehensive Plan update and the development of the 
Corridor Overlay District remained the top priorities of the Commission, it was recommended that 
Council officially affirm that these two projects remain at the top of the Planning Commission work 
plan until completed and recommendation was made to the Council.  
 
Councilman Wendell asked how the Corridor Overlay District would protect businesses in Town.  
Rob Testerman responded that the Town would work with the County regarding the Routes 13 and 
184 corridors and ask the County to provide information regarding possible development along these 
corridors so the Town could provide input regarding the proposed projects. 
 
Councilman Wendell commented about the protection of the view sheds along Route 184 and added 
that the 500 block of Monroe Avenue used to have a view of the park but now had to look at the back 
of the new bathroom facility. 
 

8 



Councilman Bennett commented that Rob Testerman and the Planning Commission controlled the 
Comprehensive Plan review but the process would be slower working with the County on the 
Corridor Overlay District.  Councilman Wendell agreed with Councilman Bennett’s comments and 
asked about the Accomack-Northampton Planning District Commission (ANPDC) and their 
assistance with the Comprehensive Plan review.  Rob Testerman stated that he had spoken to Curt 
Smith, Director of Planning with the ANPDC, and a meeting would be scheduled to discuss obtaining 
assistance from the ANPDC in the Town’s Comprehensive Plan review and update process. 
 
Councilwoman Natali suggested that Council consider a formal process for the Planning Commission 
to review the Zoning Ordinance regarding changes at the state level similar to the process for the 
traffic laws, and added that Council adopted by ordinance on an annual basis amendments to the Code 
of Virginia for incorporation into the Town Code.  Rob Testerman stated that the American Planning 
Association sent newsletters regarding bills which were on the table and any issues which could affect 
the Town would be presented to the Planning Commission.  Bob Panek added that the Virginia 
Municipal League also published a summary of legislative changes at the end of each session. 
 
Heather Arcos stated that a comprehensive review of the zoning ordinance by section was also 
needed. 
 
Mayor Sullivan told Rob Testerman that she was very pleased with his work so far and that he was 
doing a good job. 
 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Bannon, seconded by Councilman Godwin, to designate the 
Comprehensive Plan update and the Town Entrance Corridor Overlay District as the top priorities 
for the Planning Commission’s work plan.  The motion was approved by majority vote with 
Council Wendell opposed. 

 
B.  2014 Virginia Aid to Localities – Fire Programs: 

Heather Arcos stated that each year the Virginia Fire Programs Fund provided financial 
assistance to cities, counties and incorporated towns by offering a variety of grant opportunities 
under the Virginia Aid to Localities for training, construction of training centers, firefighting 
equipment and protective clothing.  Allocations were based on population.  Heather Arcos 
stated that even though the pass-through amount was included in the FY 2013-2014 budget, 
this was being brought to Council since the Aid to Localities Program entitlement had been 
increased from $8K to $10K effective July 1, 2013. 
 

Motion made by Councilman Wendell, seconded by Councilman Bennett, to authorize the Town 
Manager to execute the FY 2014 Fire Programs Fund Disbursement Agreement.  The motion was 
unanimously approved. 

 
C. Reappointment of Building Code Board of Appeals Member: 

Heather Arcos stated that the Building Code Board of Appeals met as needed to hear appeals 
concerning the Uniform Statewide Building Code and consisted of five members, each serving 
five-year terms.  Mr. David Mitchell’s term was due to expire on September 10, 2013 and he had 
expressed his interest in continuing to serve on the Board for another term. 
 
Councilman Bennett thanked Mr. Mitchell for his continued service to the Town. 
 

Motion made by Councilman Wendell, seconded by Councilman Bennett, to reappoint Mr. David  
Mitchell to the Building Code Board of Appeals for another five-year term.  The motion was 
unanimously approved.  
 
D. Waste Collection and Disposal Services: 

Heather Arcos stated that the Request for Proposal (RFP) for Waste Collection and Disposal 
Services was advertised on July 24, 2013 with a closing date of August 6, 2013.  No bids were 

9 



received.  Mr. Mike Davis of Davis Disposal, the Town’s current waste collection service 
provider, planned to submit his proposal but was out of town and unable to submit the 
proposal.  The current waste collection service contract was due to expire on August 31, 2013.  
A new RFP would be advertised, but the process could not be completed by August 31st.  Mr. 
Davis was willing to extend the current contract up to two months so the Town would not be 
without waste collection services, but Council approval was needed to execute the extension 
agreement. 
 

Motion made by Councilman Wendell, seconded by Councilman Sullivan, to authorize a two-
month extension of the Davis Disposal contract for waste collection services at current 
prices.  The motion was unanimously approved. 
 
MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS 
Mayor Sullivan referred to the letter from the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development 
(HUD) in response to the Town’s appeal regarding their decision to require the Town to repay $18K 
for the cost of the computer stations in the computer lab.  HUD reviewed the information provided 
by the Town and granted the appeal and subsequently closed the matter. 
 
Councilman Godwin stated that he did not want Ms. Bender to think her comments fell on deaf ears 
adding that she was entitled to get her questions answered.  Councilman Godwin continued to state 
that he read what was written and listened to what was said and offered to help Ms. Bender get her 
answers. 
 
Councilwoman Natali commented on the following: i) She asked if there was any update on the 
Town working with the County regarding the Everbridge Alert system.  Heather Arcos responded 
that there wasn’t anything new to report; ii) She asked if the Town had received a response from 
the County regarding the request to have Mayor Sullivan named to the County’s ad-hoc committee 
regarding emergency care.  Heather Arcos stated that official notification had not been received.  
Mayor Sullivan interjected that she heard that the committee had been formed and had until 
December to determine if an RFP was warranted.  If the committee decided that an RFP was not 
necessary, the Town could issue its own RFP; iii) She asked about the monthly Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) requests report.  Libby Hume stated that she was unaware that a report was 
to be provided to Council on a monthly basis and added that there were 69 requests year to date 
compared to a total of 64 requests in 2012; and iv) The Harbor for the Arts Festival was great for 
the Town.  It seemed that there were a lot more people in the Town this summer and for all the 
events.  She complimented the committee for a great job.  Councilman Wendell expressed his 
agreement with Councilwoman Natali.  Councilman Godwin thanked Councilwoman Natali for 
getting the information out to the public. 
 
Councilman Wendell commented on the following: i) He referred to the minutes of the July 18, 2013 
Regular Meeting and reread a portion of the minutes from page 10 regarding Mayor Sullivan’s 
comment in regards to an attempt 11 years ago “to do something to preserve the school using tax 
dollars but it would have required approximately a 400% tax increase” and stated that he wanted 
to see evidence of the 400% tax increase; ii) He read excerpts from the April 4, 2012 letter from the 
Mayor to Old School Cape Charles (OSCC) informing him of Council’s rejection of OSCC’s unsolicited 
proposal adding that he understood that no vote was taken regarding the proposal.  The letter also 
stated that the Town was “continuing to negotiate a project for the school which may include some 
public space.” Councilman Wendell continued to state that he obtained, through a FOIA request, 
emails between Bob Panek and Mr. Edwin Gaskin of Echelon Resources referencing Council’s 
preference for “scenario B with no public space.”  These emails were exchanged prior to April 4, 
2012 which was the date of the letter to OSCC; iii) He read portions of Ordinance 20120614 which 
referred to the “poor condition of the existing structure,” but the first sentence of the application for 
historic preservation stated “Cape Charles School is a 1912 building which is in good condition;” iv) 
He read a portion of the June 14, 2012 Regular Meeting minutes regarding Councilwoman Natali’s 
comments in regards to the justification to sell the school and the “Town had to do some patchwork 

10 



and repairs over the years for $20K, $30K or $40K when we could and it kept the building where it 
was now and prevented from deteriorating any further” and added that he had submitted a FOIA 
request for the amount of money spent by Council during Councilwoman Natali’s tenure on Council 
and received a copy of a receipt for $703.58 to cover the windows.  Councilwoman Natali 
interjected that her comments were not meant for the Town Council during the time of her tenure 
but for the Town over a period of years.  There was much debate regarding this sentence and 
Councilman Wendell added that the last time the Town spent any amount of money on the building 
was when it spent $80K, $69K from Brown and Root, to replace the roof.  Councilman Sullivan 
asked whether the $80K would have been spent on the roof if Brown and Root had not paid $69K.  
Councilman Wendell stated that there was no way to tell at this point but added that some of the 
Council were determined to see that something got done to preserve the school.  Councilman 
Sullivan stated that he felt that Councilman Wendell was trying his Supreme Court case at the 
Council meeting.  The discussion became heated and Councilman Wendell stated that he did not 
appreciate people talking about things that they did not know about and making accusations 
regarding the validity of his statements.  Councilman Wendell stated that last month, the Mayor 
commented on the non-truths and this month he brought documentation to back up his comments; 
and v) He agreed that he and Larry Veber had discussion in the past regarding the old school and 
that he also had many discussions with the Mayor.  He, Mayor Sullivan and Ms. Lee Goldman had 
planned to move forward and deposited money into a bank account for the purpose of saving the 
building, but Mayor Sullivan told him one day that she had closed the bank account and given the 
money to Berkley Rayfield for the Cape Charles Christian School (CCCS) who had submitted a 
proposal to lease the school building for their school.  Negotiations dragged on and in January 2011, 
the Town was still waiting to see what the CCCS was going to do.  Between January 2011 and 
August 2011, things changed and the unsolicited proposal was received from Echelon Resources. 
 
At this point, things got out of control in the audience and several members were escorted out of 
the meeting.   
 
Motion made by Councilman Sullivan, seconded by Councilman Bennett, to adjourn the Town 
Council Regular Meeting.  The motion was approved by majority vote with Councilman 
Wendell opposed. 
 
 
   
       Mayor Sullivan 
 
  
Town Clerk 
 

11 



 
Public Comments Provided in Writing 

August 15, 2013 
 
 
Deborah Bender, 300 Fulcher Street 
At the last Council meeting, Mayor Sullivan referred to the Cape Charles Wave as a blog.  A blog is the musings 
of an individual on various subjects.  A newspaper reports what government officials are doing among other 
things.  It is not unusual for government officials to want to hide their actions from the people. 
 
After all, if you pay a developer $40,990 to take your town’s historic old school, basketball courts and parking 
for the park playground, it does not look good.  If you invoice for payment from a local developer and he 
ignores the bills, it does not look good. 
 
I understand that it is embarrassing.  But it is the duty of a newspaper to let the people know what their 
elected officials are doing.  You have not had anyone making you face up to those decisions until now. 
 
The Cape Charles Wave is recognized by Google News and Bing News as an online news source.  Neither 
Google nor Bing accepts blogs as news sources.  Check it out on the Internet.  
 
I am proud to have contributed several commentary pieces to the Wave.  For your benefit, I have printed out 
my latest one.  I look forward to Town Council taking action to serve the people of Cape Charles by 
demanding payment for the invoices that were sent to Bay Creek for the wastewater plant. 
 
I also hope that you will exercise good judgment regarding the use of our new expensive wastewater plant 
both by saving its capacity for town development and immediately requiring reuse of as much effluent as 
possible in order to keep it out of the Bay. 
 
If you do not want to serve the interests of the people of Cape Charles, I hope that you will step out of the way 
and let those of us who have the people’s interests at heart serve. 
 
 
 

12 








	08-15-13 TC Reg Mtg-FINAL
	201310011347

